
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
Monday, March 14, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
40 East Center Avenue 

Village Hall Board Room 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 20, 2016 VILLAGE BOARD SPECIAL 

MEETING AND FEBRUARY 22, 2016 VILLAGE BOARD MEETING  
 

4. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen (15) minutes during this item for those individuals 
who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board of Trustees on any matter not listed on the agenda.  
Each person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a maximum of five (5) 
minutes. 
 

5. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees will entertain requests from anyone present on the order of business 
to be conducted during the Village Board Meeting. 
 

6. VILLAGE FINANCE REPORT 
 

a) Warrant Report for March 1-15, 2016 and February 2016 Payroll Expenditures 
b) February 2016 Financial Report 

 
7. VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 

a) An Informational Report Concerning the Management of Electronic Waste 
b) Request from the Lake Bluff Park District to Waive Building Permit Fees for the Paddle Court Lights at 

Blair Park 
 

8. VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
9. VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 

 
10. ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 

Please note all correspondence was delivered to the Village Board of Trustees in the Informational Reports on 
February 19, 26 and March 4, 2016. 
 

11. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR A PROPOSED GENERATOR AND FENCE 
AT BLAIR PARK LOCATED AT 355 W. WASHINGTON AVENUE 
 



Board of Trustees Regular Meeting – March 14, 2016 
 

Page 2 

12. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR A FENCE AND LANDSCAPING FOR THE 
WADING POOL AT BLAIR PARK LOCATED AT 355 W. WASHINGTON AVENUE 

 
13. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR CHANGES TO THE EXTERIOR OF THE 

BUILDING FOR NORTHSHORE DERMATOLOGY LOCATED AT 925 SHERWOOD DRIVE 
 

14. A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING EXECUTION OF A SMART-READY LED STREET 
LIGHTING PROGRAM PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
AND COMMONWEALTH EDISON 

 
15. A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN ANIMAL/RABIES CONTROL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF AND THE LAKE COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT 
 

16. A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT WITH 
SCHROEDER & SCHROEDER, INC OF SKOKIE, ILLINOIS, FOR THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF’S 
FY2016 PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE (PCC) SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
 

17. A PUBLIC HEARING CONCERNING THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF PROPOSED FISCAL YEARS 
2017-18 BIENNIAL BUDGET 
 

18. AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE BIENNIAL BUDGET FOR THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF FOR 
THE FISCAL YEARS COMMENCING MAY 1, 2016 AND ENDING APRIL 30, 2018  

 
19. ORDINANCES ADOPTING UPDATED BUILDING REGULATIONS (Title 9 Lake Bluff Municipal Code) 

 
20. AN ORDINANCE GRANTING VARIATIONS FROM THE VILLAGE’S MAXMUM FLOOR AREA AND 

SIDE YARD SETBACK REGULATIONS (611 E. Prospect Avenue) 
 

21. TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
 
22. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
23. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 22, 2016 EXECUTIVE SESSION MEETING 

 
24. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

R. Drew Irvin 
Village Administrator 

 
The Village of Lake Bluff is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting 
and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding accessibility of the 
meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact R. Drew Irvin, Village Administrator, at 234-0774 or TDD number 234-2153 promptly to allow the Village of Lake 
Bluff to make reasonable accommodations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
SPECIAL MEETING 
FEBRUARY 20, 2016 

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
Village President O’Hara called the meeting to order at 8:30 a.m. at Bernie’s Book Bank located at 917 
North Shore Drive, and Village Clerk Aaron Towle called the roll.  
 
The following were present: 
 
Village President:  Kathleen O’Hara 
 
Trustees:   Barbara Ankenman 

Steve Christensen 
Mark Dewart 
John Josephitis 

    William Meyer 
 
Absent:   Eric Grenier, Village Trustee 
    Michael Croak, Building Codes Supervisor 
    Jake Terlap, Public Works Superintendent 
 
Also Present:   Aaron Towle, Village Clerk 
    Drew Irvin, Village Administrator  
    Jeff Hansen, Village Engineer 
    David Belmonte, Police Chief 
    Brandon Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator 

Franco Bottalico, Administrative Intern 
 

2. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

There were no requests to address the Board. 
 

3. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 
There were no requests to change the order of the meeting. 
 

4. ITEM #4 – DISCUSSION REGARDING CAPITAL INITIATIVES 
 
The Village Board received a presentation from Village Engineer Jeff Hansen regarding short and long 
term capital initiatives. 
  

5. ITEM #6 – DISCUSSION REGARDING ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS 
 
Village Administrator Drew Irvin reviewed ongoing economic development initiatives with the Village 
Board. 
 



Board Trustees Special Meeting February 20, 2016 

2 
 

 
6. ITEM #5 – DISCUSSION REGARDING COMMUNITY POLICING 

 
Received a presentation from Police Chief David Belmonte regarding the Lake Bluff Police Department 
and community policing. 
 

7. ITEM #5 – ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting adjourned at 2:30 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 
R. Drew Irvin      Aaron Towle 
Village Administrator     Village Clerk 



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

FEBRUARY 22 2016      
                                                                                                     

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
Village President O’Hara called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Lake Bluff Village Hall Board 
Room, and Village Clerk Aaron Towle called the roll.  
 
The following were present: 
 
Village President:  Kathleen O’Hara 
 
Trustees:   Barbara Ankenman 
    Steve Christensen 

Mark Dewart 
John Josephitis 

    William Meyer   
 
Absent:   Eric Grenier, Village Trustee 
 
Also Present:   Aaron Towle, Village Clerk 

Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
Peter Friedman, Village Attorney 

    Marlene Scheibl, Assistant Finance Director 
    Jeff Hansen, Village Engineer 
    David Belmonte, Police Chief 
    Jake Terlap, Public Works Superintendent 
    Brandon Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator (A to VA)  
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
President O’Hara led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES 
 
Trustee Christensen moved to approve the February 8, 2016 Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes as 
presented.  Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

4. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

President O’Hara stated the Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen minutes for those 
individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board on any matter not listed on the 
agenda.   
 
Mr. Tempel Smith, Jr., Mayor of the Village of Old Mill Creek (OMC), introduced himself and OMC 
Trustee Mr. Patrick Lamb, and expressed his community’s interest in becoming a member of the Central 
Lake County Joint Action Water Agency (CLCJAWA).  He stated the Village recently received an  



Board Trustees Regular Meeting February 22, 2016 

2 
 

 
allocation for 4,000 gallons per day which would cover approximately 1,000 homes. The community was 
included in the initial CLCJAWA group before the smaller group was formed, and since that time, has 
invested a significant amount of money and time in order to become a member.  Mayor Smith provided 
background history of Old Mill Creek noting its equestrian and country image and stated the current 
population is approximately 178 residents.  He advised of the land plan that was developed for the property 
and stated it is their intent to ensure the property is developed appropriately. 
 
Mr. Lamb stated he understands the Village’s need to be thoughtful about its resources and expressed his 
opinion OMC could be easily included because it is located near larger municipal communities that are 
currently being served by CLCJAWA.  Mr. Lamb thanked the Board for allowing him time to speak. 
 

5. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 

At the request of those present, Trustee Dewart moved to take Agenda Items #14 and #11 then return to 
the regular order of the meeting.  Trustee Meyer seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous 
voice vote. 
 

6. ITEM #14 – AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW AND A SPECIAL USE 
PERMIT TO ALLOW THE OPERATION OF AN EATING PLACE WITHOUT A DRIVE-
THROUGH FACILITY AT 600 WALNUT AVENUE (Hansa Coffee Roasters) 
 
President O’Hara reported on January 13, 2016 the Village received a zoning petition from Lake Effect 
Holdings, LLC (Petitioner), owner of the former Village Market building, seeking a Special Use Permit 
(SUP) to operate an eating place without a drive through facility at 600 Walnut Avenue.  The Petitioner’s 
anticipated tenant is Hansa Coffee Roasters, a local small business coffee roaster with seating for 28 
customers.  At its meeting on February 17th the Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) 
conducted a public hearing and recommended the Village Board deny the request for a SUP for an eating 
place.  The PCZBA’s concern was for the impact the new business would have on parking within the 
Central Business District (CBD) and it was recommended the Village Board consider one of the following 
actions: 
 

 Approve the attached ordinance granting a special use permit to operate an eating place without a 
drive through;  

 Concur with the PCZBA’s recommendation and deny the request for a special use permit; or 
 Refer the zoning petition back to the PCZBA for further consideration at a future public hearing.   

 
Mr. Robert Douglass, Managing Partners with Lake Effect Holdings, provided background information 
regarding the Village Market building noting it is the oldest commercial building in the CBD.  The 
building was acquired by Lake Effect in 2005 and restored to its original character so it could continue as 
a contributing asset to the community.   
 
Mr. Kevin Kane, Co-Owner of Hansa Coffee, stated Lake Bluff is the perfect location to open their second 
location.  He stated a variety of feedback was expressed at the Lake Forest/Lake Bluff annual meeting, 
one such suggestion was the desire to have a non-alcoholic business open after 6:00 p.m.  Mr. Kane 
introduced and provided background information on the other members of Hansa Coffee.  He also 
provided a brief history of the company.  He expressed his belief the coffee shop will attract the type of 
traffic beneficial to the community and surrounding businesses. 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting February 22, 2016 

3 
 

  
Mr. Douglass commented on the standards for special use permits on which the PCZBA based its 
recommendation and noted parking was the major concern.  He expressed his opinion the PCZBA acted 
in a prejudicial manner and did not suggest the petitioner provide additional information. 
 
Mr. Tom Maegdlin, Co-Owner of Hansa Coffee, stated the PCZBA recommended denial of the SUP 
because the proposed business would cause undue traffic congestion to the CBD.  The PCZBA did not 
consider the 2014 Lake Bluff Downtown Parking Study (Rich & Associates, Inc) before denying the 
request.  Mr. Maegdlin stated the coffee shop peak business hours would occur early to mid-morning (7:00 
to 11:00 a.m.) which does not compete with existing businesses or downtown activities.  The parking 
occupancy graph shown in the Parking Study illustrates parking in the CBD is at its lowest in the morning 
hours. He stated at full capacity the coffee shop would account for 9% of the parking in the entire CBD 
bringing average total during the timeframe described to 34% total occupancy in the CBD.  Mr. Maegdlin 
expressed his opinion the PCZBA acted prejudicially and did not use the appropriate resources to make 
its recommendation.  He asked the Board to make a decision based on data. 
 
Mr. Douglass described how the proposed use would not interfere with the development or use of 
surrounding properties noting the Staff memorandum describing the surrounding land use properties as:   
  
• North: Parking lot & multi-family residential  
• East: Office 
• South: Village Green park 
• West: Office, restaurant & train station 
 
The introduction of Hansa Coffee to this location will enhance the development and attract more 
customers to the CBD.  He stated when Block One Development site plan was approved (Ordinance 2007-
14) the 600 Walnut Avenue retail space was accounted for by the Village which included all retail spaces 
in Block One. He stated, given the additional information, he expressed his opinion the application 
complies with all the standards for special use permits and asked the Village Board to approved the SUP. 
 
Trustee Meyer inquired of the customers Hansa Coffee expects as commuters on the train.  Mr. Maegdlin 
stated he could not speak to that matter because it seems like the lack of parking is an enforcement issue.  
Mr. Douglass noted the parking study did indicate parking enforcement needs to take place in the CBD. 
 
Village Administrator Drew Irvin stated the information provided by the petitioner this evening was not 
made available to the PCZBA before it considered the application. 
 
President O’Hara opened the floor for public comment. 
 
Ms. Susan McMurray, resident and downtown merchant, stated Hansa Coffee should apply for their own 
SUP.  She expressed her concern with a new coffee shop and her understanding that chain stores where 
not allowed in the CBD.   
 
Mr. Chris Ackerson expressed his frustration with the PCZBA’s recommendation and expressed his belief 
the PCZBA should be proactive in developing a vision for the entire CBD.  The comments expressed by 
PCZBA Chair Kraus at the February meeting referenced a narrow scope regarding planning as it applies 
to potential interference with the surrounding developments.  Mr. Ackerson inquired of the rules that 
govern the PCZBA which will allow them to be more proactive.  Lastly, Mr. Ackerson thanked the Village 
Board for volunteering to serve on the Board. 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting February 22, 2016 

4 
 

 
President O’Hara stated the matter has been referred back to the PCZBA and it would be inappropriate 
for the Village Board to address any of the comments expressed this evening. 
 
Ms. Kathryn Briand expressed her opinion the PCZBA’s decision was made with stewardship in mind 
and was based on the idea the Village is responsible for taking care of its existing businesses.  She 
expressed her support for Prairie Espresso and her belief the Village cares about maintaining its existing 
businesses. 
 
Mr. Peter McGuire stated the PCZBA meeting started out as a narrow zoning issue and stated planning 
element should be at the forefront of the discussion.  He commented on larger stores and asked if the 
Village cares about smaller businesses.  He expressed his concern that Hansa Coffee could put Prairie 
Espresso, whom is already selling this product, out of business.  Mr. McGuire expressed his belief the 
proposed establishment would add  traffic in addition to any traffic added by the CBD Blocks Two and 
Three developments. 
 
As there were no further comments from the Board, Trustee Dewart moved to refer back the PCZBA’s 
recommendation for further consideration with the new information made available by the petitioner.  
Trustee Christensen seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

7. ITEM #11 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR LIGHTS ON THE 
PADDLE COURTS AT BLAIR PARK AT 355 W. WASHINGTON AVENUE 
 
President O’Hara reported the Lake Bluff Park District is proposing to replace the existing pole-mounted 
light fixtures for the paddle courts at Blair Park with new LED fixtures.  The Park District has received 
complaints from Paddle Court users regarding the low light levels on the courts.  In order to improve 
lighting on the courts, while keeping the off-court light level low, they have selected the proposed GX60-
4R LED fixture.  The Park District installed the LED fixtures on the northern paddle court on a temporary 
trail basis in August.  The attached light survey was done with the new fixtures on the northern court and 
the old fixtures on the other 2 courts.  It shows brighter light levels on the northern court, with lower light 
levels 20’ away from that court, using the new fixtures.  The lights on the tennis courts will not change.  
President O’Hara further noted the Architectural Board of Review (ABR) reviewed the proposed lights at 
its February 2, 2016 meeting and voted unanimously to recommend that the Village Board approve the 
proposed lights. In preparation for the Village Board’s consideration of the request, the neighboring 
property owners have been notified of the meeting date and a resolution has been prepared transmitting 
the ABR’s recommendation.  
 
Following Village Administrator Irvin’s explanation of the pilot program, Lake Bluff Park District 
Superintendent of Facility Services Ed Heiser stated there was one comment received stating the bulb 
appears brighter than the original fixtures.  The proposed lighting does produce more light, but the light 
is directed to aim the light onto the paddle courts.  He also noted the proposed fixture is day sky compliant. 
 
In response to a question from the Board, Mr. Heiser stated the hours the lights are turned off will not 
change.   
  
As there were no further questions, Trustee Christensen moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee Meyer 
seconded the motion. The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

8. ITEM #6A – WARRANT REPORT FOR FEBRUARY 16-29, 2016  



Board Trustees Regular Meeting February 22, 2016 

5 
 

 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of 
$257,320.76 for February 16-29, 2016. 
 
As such, the total expenditures for this period is in the amount of $257,320.76. 
 
Trustee Christensen inquired of the Iron Mountain expenditure.  Assistant Finance Director Marlene 
Scheibl stated a shredder company is used periodically to destroy the large volume of state approved 
documents.  
 
As there were no further comments from the Board, Trustee Josephitis moved to approve the Warrant 
Report.   Trustee Ankenman seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Josephitis and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

9. ITEM #6B – JANUARY 2016 FINANCE REPORT 
 
At President O’Hara’s request, Assistant Finance Director Scheibl provided a brief summary of the 
January 2016 Finance Report highlighting major revenue sources and expenditures for the period: 
 

 Sales tax revenue for May-November 2015 is $1.66 million which is $189,000 or 13% greater 
over the same period in 2014.  The home rule sales tax for May – November 2015 is $453,287 
which is $116,000 or 34% greater than the same period in 2014.  The figures for December and 
January sales tax revenues have not been reported to the municipalities;  

 Income tax receipts for May 2015 – January 2016 is $518,548 which is 11% greater than the 
same period in 2014-15; 

 Building permit revenue for May 2015-January 2016 is $388,300 compared to $953,650 for the 
same period in 2014-15.    The FY2016 budget for building permit revenue was reduced to 
$660,000 to account for the decline in commercial redevelopment projects.  The building permit 
revenue projection has been revised from $660,000 to $500,000 as some anticipated building 
activity is not expected to commence before May 1st.  The Village received a $45,000 building 
permit for 611 Lansdowne Lane.  The FY2015 building permit revenue was $1,045,008 which 
was 113% more than the receipts for FY2014  due to the Target Development, Heinen’s 
remodeling, and two large residential homes in Lansdowne; 

 The May 2015-January 2016 General Fund expenditures is $6,650,655 or 5.4% more than the 
same period in 2014 and represents 66% of the budget consistent with last fiscal year.  The 
Police Records division costs were less than last year because the Village had internal dispatch 
services until September 2014.  The Capital project expenditures exceed the same period in the 
prior fiscal year by $546,000; and 

 Water sales for May 2015-January 2016 is $44,000 or 4.6% lower than the same period in 
FY2015.  Billed consumption was down 126.158 million gallons for this period compared to 
134,792 million gallons for the same period in 2014.  The decrease in billed consumption of 
8.634 million gallons reduced the revenue by $60,000 but the rate increase added $19,000 to the 
sales revenue.  The remaining difference of $3,000 in sales revenue is attributed to water hydrant 
consumption, customer charges and late fees.  The water rate was changed effective May 1, 2015 
from $6.80 to $6.95 per thousand gallons of water consumed. 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting February 22, 2016 

6 
 

 
Staff continues to closely monitor the actions in Springfield and assess any implications to the Village 
including potential changes in State-shared revenue allocations, property tax limitation changes, or 
pension reform become law. 
 
Trustee Meyer moved to accept the Finance Report. Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion 
passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

10. ITEM #7 – VILLAGE ADMINISRATOR’S REPORT 
 
Village Administrator Irvin reported Commonwealth Edison is rolling out its Smart Meter installation 
program system wide by the end of 2018 and will begin installations in Lake Bluff beginning mid-June 
2016. He introduced ComEd Vice President of Advanced Metering Infrastructure Implementation Mike 
McMahon and Community Affairs Liaison Jim Dudek to present an informational report regarding Smart 
Meter technology and ComEd’s customer communication plan.   
 
Mr. Dudek thanked the Board for time to present the information and introduced Mr. McMahon to provide 
information on the Smart Meter program. 
 
Mr. McMahon stated the Smart Meter deployment was authorized by the 2011 Illinois Legislation under 
the Energy Infrastructure Modernization Act.  The Act authorized ComEd to spend $2.6 million for system 
upgrades which included smart grid investments.  The Smart Meter deployment began in 2013 and as of 
today there is approximately 2 million Smart Meters installed.  He stated the acceptance rate for their 
service territory was very high and noted 0.1% of ComEd customers elected not to have a Smart Meter 
installed. 
 
Mr. McMahon provided a deployment map showing where Smart Meters will be installed and noted the 
plan installation for Lake Bluff will begin in June and take approximately one month to complete.  Mr. 
McMahon provided information on the installation technician credentials and encouraged residents to ask 
technicians to show their badge as verification. 
 
Mr. McMahon showed the Board the model Smart Meter being used and stated it is a certified digital 
wireless device (by Underwriter Laboratories) which allow remote reading.  The Smart Meters have two 
internal radios which operates in the same frequency range as a garage door opener or baby monitor.  The 
radios operate a maximum of five minutes per day transmitting information to ComEd. 
 
In response to a question from Trustee Ankenman, Mr. McMahon stated the customer is responsible for 
the cost should they desire to convert an indoor meter to an outdoor meter. 
 
Following a request from Village Administrator Irvin, Mr. McMahon explained the opt-out process noting 
the customers must inform ComEd in writing or by telephone that they do not want a Smart Meter.  There 
will be a series of notifications sent to the customer, and should the customer continue to refuse the Smart 
Meter, an additional monthly charge of $21.53 will be added to their electric bill. 
 
Trustee Josephitis asked if the law requires everyone to have a Smart Meter.  Mr. McMahon stated the 
law specifies everyone must have a Smart Meter within one year after full deployment is completed and 
he noted the plan is to complete full deployment by December 2018. 
 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting February 22, 2016 

7 
 

 
Trustee Dewart asked if the renter or landlord could refuse the Smart Meter.  Mr. McMahon stated the 
account holder is the individual that can refuse a Smart Meter. 
 
President O’Hara opened the meeting for public comments. 
 
Ms. Nancy Thorner, a Lake Bluff resident, read her written concerns regarding Smart Meters and provided 
the Board with a copy for the record. 
 
Ms. Beverly Cooper, a Highland Park resident, read her written letter stating why she is opposed to Smart 
Meter installation and provided the Board with a copy for the record. 
 
Ms. Victoria Bean, a Barrington resident, expressed her concerns for how Smart Meters could possibly 
cause long term health issues. 
 

11. ITEM #8 - VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
Village Attorney Peter Friedman had no report. 
 

12. ITEM #9 – VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT  
 
President O’Hara had no report. 
 

13. ITEM #10 – ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 
President O’Hara introduced the correspondence from the Informational Reports on December 11, 18, 24 
and 31, 2015. 
 
Trustee Dewart moved to accept the correspondence as submitted. Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  
The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

14. ITEM #12 – A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACT WITH PETER BAKER AND SON COMPANY FOR THE VILLAGE OF LAKE 
BLUFF’S FY2016/2017 STREET PATCHING PROGRAM 
 
President O’Hara reported the Village of Lake Bluff partnered with the City of Lake Forest and City of 
Highwood to jointly bid the 2016 asphalt patching work for both municipalities.  A joint project was 
prepared because it is believed that a larger contract may result in lower unit prices for the work to be 
performed.  She further reported on February 18, 2016, bids were opened at the City of Lake Forest for 
the joint asphalt patching program.  Five bids were received for the project and the lowest bid was 
submitted by Peter Baker & Son Company of Lake Bluff, Illinois.  Peter Baker & Son has performed this 
annual contract for the Village many times in the past and has proven to be capable of completing the 
work.   
 
President O’Hara reported the low bid amount attributable to Lake Bluff’s portion of the work is 
$48,500.00.  The Village’s proposed FY 2016/17 Budget currently includes $550,000 for the Street 
Resurfacing and Asphalt Patching projects.  The intent has been to use approximately $50,000 of that  
 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting February 22, 2016 

8 
 

 
allotment for patching.  The Village Engineer is recommending that Village award the contract to Peter 
Baker and Sons Construction for the amount of $48,500.00.    
 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Josephitis moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Meyer seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Christensen, Dewart, Josephitis, Meyer and Ankenman 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

15. ITEM #13 – A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACT WITH PETER BAKER AND SON COMPANY FOR THE VILLAGE OF LAKE 
BLUFF’S FY2016/2017 STREET RESURFACING PROGRAM 

 
President O’Hara reported the Village of Lake Bluff partnered with the City of Lake Forest and District 
67 Everett School to jointly bid the 2016 roadway resurfacing work for both municipalities.  A joint project 
was prepared because it is believed that a larger contract may result in lower unit prices for the work to 
be performed.   She further reported on February 18, 2016, bids were opened at the City of Lake Forest 
for the joint resurfacing program.  Four bids were received for the project and the lowest bid was submitted 
by Peter Baker & Son Company of Lake Bluff, Illinois.  A comparison to the unit prices the Village 
received for the FY 2015/2016 Street Resurfacing Program shows that the prices of the current bid are 
approximately 7% lower than the prior year.  Peter Baker & Son has performed this annual contract for 
the Village many times in the past and has proven to be capable of completing the work.   
 
President O’Hara reported the low bid amount attributable to Lake Bluff’s portion of the work is 
$333,847.25.  The Village’s proposed FY 2016/17 Budget currently includes $550,000 for the Street 
Resurfacing and Asphalt Patching projects.  Combined, the low bids for the construction contracts for the 
Street Resurfacing and Asphalt Patching projects are $382,347.25.  An additional $30,000 is allotted for 
the construction inspection and engineering design work to be done in FY 2016/17.  If the board wishes, 
staff can inquire if Peter Baker and Son will include a section of East Prospect Avenue from Glenn Avenue 
to Maple Avenue at the same unit prices.  If this section of East Prospect Avenue is included in the project, 
the estimated total of the resurfacing contract would be $410,000.  With the patching contract and 
engineering/inspection the total would be $488,500 out of the proposed $550,000 budget.  The Village 
Engineer is recommending that Village award the contract with the resurfacing work on East Prospect 
Avenue to Peter Baker and Sons Construction for the amount of $410,000.00.    

 
Village Administrator Irvin responded to a comment earlier regarding the budgeted amount for the 
program and noted the Village has budgeted more than the contract award because the condition of 
Environ Circle base is unknown. 
 
Village Engineer Jeff Hansen stated the cost to resurface Lincoln Avenue and Park Place would be 
approximately $15,000 for each street and he recommended the Village reserve some of the funds for 
additional patching. 
 
Following a brief discussion, it was the consensus of the Board to direct Staff to use the budgeted amount 
in its entirety for resurfacing additional Village roadways. 
 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting February 22, 2016 

9 
 

 
As there were no further questions, Trustee Dewart moved to adopt the resolution as amended. Trustee 
Meyer seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Dewart, Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman and Christensen 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 

 
16. ITEM #15 – AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE LAKE BLUFF ZONING CODE REGULATIONS 

TO ESTABLISH PHYSICAL FITNESS FACILITY (SIC 7991) AS A SPECIAL USE IN THE L-1 
LIGHT INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT 

 
President O’Hara reported on January 22, 2016 the Village received a zoning application from Vlad’s 
Gym, Inc. (Petitioner), a personal training studio, concerning a request to operate a physical fitness facility 
at 910 Sherwood Drive, Unit 23 (Property) as a special use.  Because a physical fitness facility is not an 
allowed use in the L-1 Light Industry Zoning District, the Petitioner submitted a two-part zoning 
application requesting:  
 

 A text amendment to the Zoning Code establishing “Physical Fitness Facility (SIC 7991)” as a 
special use in the L-1 Light Industry District; and 

 A Special Use Permit to operate a physical fitness facility at the Property.   
 
President O’Hara reported at the conclusion of the public hearing on February 17th the Plan Commission 
and Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) recommended the Village Board approve the request for a text 
amendment, as well as grant a conditional Special Use Permit to the Petitioner to allow the operation of a 
physical fitness facility at the Property.  She further reported Mr. Vladimir Curguz, business owner, has 
submitted a request to waive second reading of the ordinance. 
 
Mr. Curguz stated he is seeking a SUP for a personal training studio at 910 Sherwood Dr., Unit #23 and 
commented on the parking conditions at the location.  He summarized his requests for the Village Board.   
 
Trustee Christensen inquired of the reason to waive second reading of the ordinance.  Mr. Curguz stated 
the landlord granted him time to get the interior space ready and he would like to complete the built-out 
prior to the April 1, 2016 lease effective date. 
 
As there were no further comments from the Board, Trustee Josephitis moved to approve first reading of 
the ordinance.  Trustee Christensen seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call 
vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen and Dewart 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 
At the request of the Petitioners, Trustee Christensen moved to waive second reading of the ordinance.  
Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart and Josephitis 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting February 22, 2016 

10 
 

 
17. ITEM #16 – AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO VLAD’S GYM, INC TO 

OPERATE A PHYSCIAL FITNESS FACILITY AT 910 SHERWOOD DRIVE, UNIT #23 
 

President O’Hara introduced the second part of the aforementioned zoning application requesting a SUP to 
operate a physical fitness facility at the Property.   
 
As there were no comments from the Board, Trustee Meyer moved to approve first reading of the 
ordinance.  Trustee Christensen seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Josephitis and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 
At the request of the Petitioner, Trustee Christensen moved to waive second reading of the ordinance.  
Trustee Ankenman seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Christensen, Dewart, Josephitis, Meyer and Ankenman 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 

 
18. ITEM #17 – SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF 

THE MUNICIPAL CODE CONCERNING THE OPERATION OF LEAF BLOWERS AND 
POWERED LAWN EQUIPMENT 
 
President O’Hara reported on August 24, 2015 the Committee-of-the-Whole (COW) discussed complaints 
received by the Village from time to time regarding outdoor work (lawn mowing and other landscaping 
activities) that produce offensive noises in the early morning and evening hours. Historically, the Village 
has managed these complaints by working with contractors/property owners and using the current 
permitted construction times for regulatory purposes. On January 25, 2016, following its discussion over 
the course of several meetings, the COW directed Staff and Legal Counsel to draft an ordinance amending 
the Village’s nuisance regulations concerning leaf blowers and powered lawn equipment (Chapter 1 of 
Title 4 of the  Municipal Code), including: 
 

 Modifying the hours of operation permitted for any powered lawn maintenance equipment (leaf 
blowers, lawn mowers, trimmers, etc.) throughout the year to Monday through Friday, from 8:00 
a.m. – 6:00 p.m., and Saturdays/Sundays/Holidays from 9:00 a.m. – 6:00 p.m. (“permitted hours 
of operation”); 

 Exempting snow removal equipment, such as snow blowers, plows, power shovels, etc., from the 
permitted hours of operation; and 

 Allowing property owners performing landscape maintenance activities on their own property to 
operate between 6:00 p.m. and dusk. 
 

Additionally, the COW discussed the possibility of establishing registration requirements for landscape 
companies; however, the COW directed Staff to educate residents on best practices for hiring landscaper 
contractors, such as an adequate level of insurance, rather than creating a new licensing program.  At its 
meeting on February 8, 2016 the Village Board approved first reading of the Ordinance with the request 
to strike Section 9(b). The Ordinance has been updated for the Village Board’s consideration of second 
reading approval.   



Board Trustees Regular Meeting February 22, 2016 

11 
 

 
As there were no comments from the Board, Trustee Meyer moved to approve second reading of the 
ordinance.  Trustee Christensen seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Dewart, Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman and Christensen 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

19. ITEM #18 – TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
  
There was no Trustee’s report. 
 

20. ITEM #19 – EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
At 9:07 p.m. Trustee Dewart moved to enter into Executive Session for the purpose of discussing Property 
Disposition (5 ILCS 120/2(c)(6)).  Trustee Meyer seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the 
following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen and Dewart 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 
There being no further business to discuss, Trustee Josephitis moved to adjourn out of executive session.  
Trustee Christensen seconded the motion and the motion passed on a unanimous voice vote at 9:38 p.m. 
 

21. ITEM #20 – ADJOURNMENT 
 
Trustee Dewart moved to adjourn the regular meeting.  Trustee Meyer seconded the motion and the motion 
passed on a unanimous voice vote.  The meeting adjourned at 9:39 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 
R. Drew Irvin      Aaron Towle 
Village Administrator     Village Clerk 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
            Agenda Item:  6a 
  
 
Subject: 

 
WARRANT REPORT FOR MARCH 1-15, 2016 AND 
FEBRUARY 2016 PAYROLL EXPENDITURES 

 
Action Requested: 

 
APPROVAL OF DISBURSEMENTS (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

  
Referred To: 

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of $289,965.01 for 
March 1-15, 2016. 
 
Expenditure of Village funds for payroll in the amount of $255,089.49 for February 2016. 
 
Total Expenditures of $545,054.50 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 

 
1. Warrant Report for March 1-15, 2016   $ 289,965.01 (dated 3/14/16) 
  

Note that the warrant report designates those checks issued prior to the Board’s 
formal approval as manual checks “M” on the Warrant Report.  These are checks that 
are prepared in advance of the warrant due to contractual or governmental/payroll tax 
obligations; to obtain a discount; or for extenuating circumstances that may arise.  
 

2. FY2015-16 Payroll Report. 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   
 
Approval of Warrant and Payroll in the total amount of $545,054.50 
 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 
 

































































VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

        Agenda Item: 6b 

 

 

Subject: 

 

FEBRUARY 2016 FINANCIAL REPORT                      

 

Action Requested: 

 

RECEIPT OF FINANCIAL REPORT (Voice Vote) 

 

Originated By: 

 

DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

 

Referred To:  

 

VILLAGE BOARD 

 

Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 

 

Attached for your consideration is the February 2016 Financial Report. 

 

Highlights of this report are: 

 Sales tax revenue for May-November 2015 is $1.66 million which is $189k or 

13% greater and home rule sales tax of $453k is $116k or 34% greater than the 

same period in 2014;  

 Income tax receipts of $468k for May 2015-February 2016 is 11% greater than the 

same period in 2014-15; 

 Building permit revenue projection has been revised from $660k to $500k as 

some anticipated building activity is not expected to commence before May 1st; 

 Capital project expenditures exceed the same period in the prior fiscal year by 

$552k; 

 Water billed consumption is down 7.331 million gallons. This resulted in a 

decline in water sales of $17k (after accounting for the change in water rates.); 

 We continue to closely monitor the actions in Springfield and assess the 

implications to the Village of potential changes in State-shared revenue 

allocations, property tax limitation changes, or pension reform become law; and 

 Finance Committee meeting scheduled for Monday, March 14, 2016 at 6 PM in 

the Village Hall Board Room. 

 

Reports and Documents Attached: 

 

 February 2016 Financial Report 

 

 

 

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:  Acceptance of Report. 

 

 

Date Referred to Village Board: 2/22/2016 

 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Village President and Board of Trustees 
  Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
 
FROM:  Susan M. Griffin, Director of Finance 
 
DATE:  March 9, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: February 2016 Monthly Report 
 
 
Treasury Report – Exhibit A 
Attached is the two page Treasury Report for February 2016.  The total cash and investments in the 
treasury for the governmental and water funds are $9,249,695 plus $8,944,384 for the Police Pension 
Fund.   
 
Investment Report – Exhibit B 
Attached is the Investment Report for the month ending February 29, 2016.  The par value plus 
interest credited to the CD’s for the governmental and Water fund short-term investments is 
$2,734,821.  The Village investments are managed within the guidelines of the Village’s Cash 
Management and Investment Policy.   
 
Budget Analysis Report – Exhibit C  
Attached is the Budget Analysis Report for May 2015-February 2016. The revenues in Exhibit C reflect 
actual and estimated receipts.  Below is more specific information about the major revenues and 
expenditures by fund.  The General and Water Funds revenues and expenditures that exceed or are 
under 20% of the prior year amounts have been highlighted on Exhibit C.   
 
 
General Fund Revenues: 
 
Property Tax revenue is received predominately in June and September as the taxes are due by the 
first week of those months.  The total Village tax extension for the 2014 property taxes (received in 
FY16) is $3,149,695 with the General Fund receiving 69% or $2,169,083 of the monies.  The IMRF, 
FICA and Police Pension Funds receive the balance of the revenues of $980,610.  The Police Pension 
property taxes are recorded as a revenue in the General Fund and a transfer out of the General Fund 
into the Police Pension Fund in compliance with GASB.  The FY16 actual distribution from the County 
represents 99.1% of the total tax extension which 1.4% less than last year at 100.5%.   
 
Sales Tax Revenue (non-home rule 1% and local use tax) is shown in table format on the next page 
with monthly revenues for FY16, FY15, and FY14.  This chart reflects the May-November 2015 
revenues for FY16 which are $189,094 or 13% greater than the same period in 2014.  The FY15 sales 
taxes of $2,533,246 are $272,370 or 12% greater than FY14. The chart on page 3 shows the non-
home rule sales tax by month for the calendar years 2009 through September 2015.  December-
January numbers have not been reported to the municipalities at this time. 
 
 
 
 
 



February 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 2 

 
 

 
Liability Month 

FY15-16 
Revenue 
(A) 

FY14-15 
Revenue  
(B) 

$ Change 
FY15 to 
FY16 (A-B) 

FY13-14 
Revenue  
(C) 

$ Change 
FY14- FY15  
(B-C) 

May 2015 $  230,253 $  214,330  $ 15,923 $  208,839  $   5,491 

June  $  221,167 $  207,740  $ 13,427 $  198,781  $   8,959 

July $  231,558 $  235,549 ($   3,991) $  193,135  $ 42,414 

August  $  237,694 $  210,817  $ 26,877 $  186,436  $ 24,381 

September  $  229,733 $  189,923  $ 39,810 $  191,150 ($   1,227) 

October  $  243,811 $  191,588  $ 52,223 $  203,927 ($ 12,339) 

November  $  261,349 $  216,524  $ 44,825 $  201,292  $ 15,232 

December   $  229,680  $  228,777  $      903 

January 2016  $  201,909  $  128,878  $ 73,031 

February  $  184,808  $  140,358  $ 44,450 

March   $  219,534  $  174,087  $ 45,447 

April   $  230,844  $  205,216  $ 25,628 

FY Total  $1,655,565 $2,533,246  $ 189,094 $2,260,876  $ 272,370 

FY Monthly 
Average  

 
$ 236,509 

 
  $211,104 

  
  $188,406 

 

 
Home rule sales tax became effective January 1, 2006 with actual receipts shown below.  By statute 
this 1% tax does not apply to food/medicines and titled products such as autos. The FY2016 home 
rule sales tax revenue is $115,858 or 34% higher than the same period in 2014.  The FY2015 home 
rule sales taxes of $544,272 are $18,839 or 3.6% more than FY14 revenue. The chart on page 4 shows 
the home rule sales tax by month for the calendar years 2009 through September 2015.   
 

Home Rule Sales 
Tax By Liability 
Month 

FY2015-16 
Revenue 
(A) 

FY2014-15 
Revenue 
(B) 

$ Change 
FY15 to 
FY16 (A-B) 

FY2013-14 
Revenue 
(C) 

$ Change 
FY14 to FY15 
(B-C) 

May 2015  $ 60,325  $ 51,864  $  8,461  $ 54,714 ($   2,850) 

June   $ 55,143  $ 53,809  $  1,334  $ 50,760  $   3,049 

July   $ 59,056  $ 45,382  $13,674  $ 41,299  $   4,083 

August   $ 65,060  $ 47,867  $17,193  $ 44,476  $   3,391 

September   $ 69,262  $ 44,378  $24,884  $ 48,429 ($   4,051) 

October   $ 71,862  $ 49,349  $22,513  $ 44,804  $   4,545 

November   $ 72,579  $ 44,780  $27,799  $ 43,688  $   1,092 

December   $ 51,229   $ 56,579 ($   5,350) 

January 2016    $ 40,487   $ 28,248  $ 12,239 

February    $ 30,334   $ 27,948  $   2,386 

March    $ 37,121   $ 38,973  $  (1,852) 

April    $ 47,672   $ 45,515  $   2,157 

FY Total  $453,287 $544,272  $115,858 $525,433  $ 18,839 

FY Monthly 
Average 

 
$  64,755 

 
$  45,356 

  
$  43,786 

 



February 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 3 

 
 
 

 
 
 

2011 

2011 

2012 

2012 

2013

2014 

2014 

2015 

2015 

$100

$110

$120

$130

$140

$150

$160

$170

$180

$190

$200

$210

$220

$230

$240

$250

$260

$270

Thousands
SALES TAX REVENUE

(not including Home Rule Sales Tax)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015



February 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 4 

 
 

 
 

2011

2012 

2012 

2013

2013 

2014 

2015 

August:  Target 
Development first full 

month

2015 

$25

$28

$31

$34

$37

$40

$43

$46

$49

$52

$55

$58

$61

$64

$67

$70

$73

$76

Thousands

HOME RULE SALES TAX REVENUE

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015



February 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 5 

Other Taxes category encompasses state income, personal property replacement, and the demolition tax.   
 
The actual income tax revenue for May 2015-February 2016 (FY16) at $518,548 is 10.8% higher than the same 
period in FY15 at $468,045.  Below is a chart showing the income tax revenues by month from January 2011-
February 2016.   

 
According to the Illinois Municipal League, the 36% jump in the May 2013 receipts were an aberration caused 
partly by individuals and corporations reporting capital gains income in anticipation of significant changes in 
Federal tax policy.  The revenue for May 2015 is $102,570 or 5% more than May 2013.  Again this could be an 
increase in capital gains. 
 
The following page shows a bar graph of the income tax revenue by fiscal year for FY09-FY15. Fiscal year 2014 
total revenue of $557,587 was only $9 less than the peak revenue of $557,596 in FY08 and $41,917 or 8% 
greater than FY13. Fiscal year 2015 exceeds the FY08 peak by 0.5% with total revenues of $560,382. However, 
this source of revenue is one that is likely to decline if the State revises the formula for sharing income tax 
revenue with local municipalities. No word yet with any conclusive plans regarding changes to the municipal 
share as the State still has not approved a FY2015-16 budget. 
 

CY2011

CY2012

CY2013

CY2014

CY 2015

CY2016

$20

$25

$30

$35

$40

$45

$50

$55

$60

$65

$70

$75

$80

$85

$90

$95

$100

$105

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec

Thousands LAKE BLUFF STATE SHARED INCOME TAX

CY2011

CY2012

CY2013

CY2014

CY2015

CY2016



February 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 6 

 
 
Utility Taxes category is comprised of a tax on electric, natural gas, and telecommunications usage.  The tax is 
5% of the distribution, supply, furnishing or sale of natural gas and electricity consumed within the Village with 
the electric tax being based on tiers of kilowatt hours usage.  The telecommunications tax is 5% of the gross 
charge for the act or privilege of originating or receiving telecommunications in the Village and all services 
rendered in connection therewith.  The figures on Exhibit C reflect estimates for the utility taxes. 
 
North Shore Gas utility tax revenues are received quarterly in June (for February-April), September (for May-
July), December (for August-October), & March (for November-January).  The FY15 taxes are $211,628 or 3% 
less than FY14. The FY14 taxes are $218,129 which is $71,057 or 48% greater than FY13.  The February-April 
2014 quarter amount of $107,763 was 68% greater than the same quarter in 2013. This is attributed to the 
increase in natural gas consumption for building heating because of the subzero temperatures experienced in 
the Midwest during the winter of 2014. This cooler weather pattern is assumed to be partly the reason for the 
May-July 2014 amount of $51,521 which is the highest amount received for the summer quarter since at least 
1996!  May-July 2015 tax of $30,411 is consistent with the same quarters in previous years, except for 2014.  
The August-October 2015 tax of $20,059 is slightly less than the prior year.  The November 2015-January 2016 
tax of $37,234 is 37% less than the same period the prior year consistent with the low fuel prices and mild 
winter weather. Below is a chart showing the natural gas tax revenues by quarter for the past 5 years. 

 

$420,000

$440,000

$460,000

$480,000

$500,000

$520,000

$540,000

$560,000

$580,000

FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015

FISCAL YEAR

STATE SHARED INCOME TAX

2015
2015

Nov 2015-Jan 2016
$51,521

$107,763

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

110,000

May-July Aug-Oct Nov-Jan Feb-Apr

R
e

ve
n

u
e

 $

Natural Gas Utility Tax Revenue

FY16 FY15 FY14 FY13 FY12 FY11



February 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 7 

ComEd electric tax actual revenue for May 2015-January 2016 (FY16) at $234,711 is 1.3% greater than 
$231,740 for the same period in 2014-15. FY15 of $308,147 is $11,309 or 3.5% less than the $319,456 revenue 
for FY14.  The FY14 revenue was $9,178 or 2.8% less than FY13 revenue of $328,634.   
 
Actual telecomm taxes are remitted to the Village by the State; actual receipts lag about 3-4 months from the 
liability period. The Village May-October 2015 revenue of $112,383 is 5.6% less than the same period in 2014 
of $119,107.  In March 2013 the State notified the Village that a large telecommunications carrier was ordered 
to seek refunds from the states on behalf of customers that were charged telecomm taxes on transactions that 
were not properly taxable under federal and state laws.  Illinois municipalities were advised that a significant 
portion of the State refunds involved proceeds that were distributed to local governments. The Village’s 
portion of the recovery of distributions was $32,792.  While the State recovered these funds over an equal 
amount each month for a year during FY15, the Village reduced its FY14 telecommunications tax revenue by 
this amount. After this adjustment, FY14 revenue is $217,745; $55,867 or 25.7% less than FY13 revenue of 
$273,612. The FY15 revenue is $231,348 compared to $217,745 for FY14 (after taking into account the 
refundable adjustment noted above) which represents a 6.2% increase.   
 
Below is a chart showing the telecommunications (from various sources), ComEd electric, and the North Shore 
natural gas utility taxes by fiscal year.  Upon review of this chart, it is clear that all three of these revenue 
sources are well below their pre-2008-2009 amounts. Given the more efficient appliances, consumer 
conservation habits, and the lower price of fuel, projections are that this source will not likely rise to those 
levels in the next five years. 
 

 
 

North Shore Gas

ComEd Electric

Telecomm

$140

$150

$160

$170

$180

$190

$200

$210

$220

$230

$240

$250

$260

$270

$280

$290

$300

$310

$320

$330

$340

$350

$360

FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015

Thousands

FISCAL YEAR

UTILITY TAX REVENUE
by Type for FY2009-2015

North Shore Gas

ComEd Electric

Telecomm

Telecomm refund 
accounted for in FY14



February 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 8 

Building Permit revenue for May 2015-February 2016 is $412,545 compared to $966,199 for the same period 
in FY15.  On March 4th the Village received a building permit fee of $20,800 for 95 Clay Ct bringing the total to-
date of $433,345.  While the FY16 budget was reduced to account for the decline in commercial 
redevelopment projects; this period represents 63% of the FY16 annual building permit projected revenue. I 
lowered the FY16 projection from $660,000 to $500,000 as some anticipated building permits are not 
expected before May 1st and overall construction values are down.  FY15 ended the year at $1,045,008; 113% 
more than the receipts for FY14 due to the Target development, Heinen’s remodeling of the Dominick’s store 
and two large residences in Lansdowne.   
 
Below is a graph of the building permit revenues since FY09 with a revised estimate of revenues for FY2016.  
 

 
 
Sewer charge revenue from May 2015-February 2016 of $139,920 is $3,409 or 2.4% less than the same period 
in FY15. Total FY15 revenues of $161,358 are 9.4% less than FY14 consistent with the reduction in water 
consumption attributed to the mild summer and fall. The sewer charge is billed at the rate of $1.10 per 
thousand gallons of water used with a credit during the billing months of August-October for water presumed 
for lawn irrigation purposes.    
  
General Fund Expenditures: 
 
The May 2015-February 2016 expenditures of $7.145 million are $190,439 or 2.7% more than the same period 
in FY15 and represents 71% of the budget consistent with last fiscal year.  Police Records division costs are less 
than last year because the Village had internal dispatch services until September 2014.  Crossing guards 
division has been moved to the Police Records division in FY16. The decrease in Fire department expenditures 
is attributed the purchase in FY15 of diesel exhaust systems for the fire engines in the amount of $44k (paid for 
with an AFG grant.)  Street division expenditures and capital spending is up $552,340 over last year due to the 
road paving projects (of $744k.)   
 
FY16 General Fund capital projects budget includes: $709k for street repaving/curb and gutter replacements; 
$285k for sewer and lift station improvements; $280k for the West Scranton Ave pedestrian bridge (which is 
on-hold pending the State’s decision on the grant monies); $167k for sidewalk extension and deteriorated 
panel replacements; $100k for gateway signage and corridor improvements; and $90k for building 
maintenance and ADA improvements. 
 

 $200

 $250

 $300

 $350

 $400

 $450

 $500

 $550

 $600

 $650

 $700

 $750

 $800

 $850

 $900

 $950

 $1,000

 $1,050

 $1,100

 $1,150

FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

T
h

o
u

s
a

n
d

s

BuildingPermit Revenues



February 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 9 

Interfund transfers are for the Police Pension property taxes, Vehicle Replacement contributions, and the 2012 
Refunding Bonds debt payment. Refunding bond interest is paid in June and December with principal payment 
in December each year. 
 
Water Fund Revenues: 
The Water sales in dollars for May 2015-February 2016 is 2.6% or $28k lower than the same period in FY15. 
Billed consumption was 142.714 million gallons (mg) for this period compared to 150.045 mg for the same 
period in FY15. The decrease in billed consumption of 7.331 mg reduced the revenue by $51k but the rate 
increase added $21k to the sales revenue.  The remaining difference in sales revenue of $2k is attributed to 
water hydrant consumption, customer charges and late fees.  The water rate was changed on May 1, 2015 
from $6.80 to $6.95 per thousand gallons of water consumed.  
 
Water Purchases: 
Water purchases for May 2015-February 2016 are 196.876 mg compared to 200.054 mg for the same period in 
FY15. Effective May 1, 2015, CLCJAWA increased the wholesale water rate from $2.60 to $2.68 per 1,000 
gallons of water purchased.  The decline in water purchased of 3.178 mg accounted for $8.5k in less cost but 
the increase in the rate added $16k to the expense for a net difference of $7.5k (1.4% increase) in water 
purchase expense in FY16 compared to the same period in FY15. 
 
The water billing system is currently being examined to determine the reason for the substantial difference 
between the water purchases decrease of 3.178 mg compared to the water sales decrease of 7.331 mg. An 
internal billing audit did not uncover any billing discrepancies; however, PW has located some leaks in the 
water mains and is continuing to assess the physical infrastructure to find and correct system breaks causing 
this unacceptable gap.  
 
Special Revenue, Capital Projects, and Debt Service Funds: 
The revenues and expenditures for these funds are consistent with their specified purpose.  The IMRF Fund 
expenditures increased by $194k in January due to the accelerated pension payment pursuant to Public Act 
97-0609 requiring employers to pay that portion of the present value of a pension attributable to “earnings 
increases” within the final rate of earnings period (highest consecutive 48 months) which exceed the greater of 
6% or 1.5 times the increase in the CPI-Urban.  “Earnings increases” include payouts at retirement of accrued 
vacation, holiday and a portion of unused sick time.  The IMRF and FICA funds expenditures are financed by 
property tax revenues.  The Motor Fuel Tax Fund (MFT) receives allotments each month from the state to be 
used exclusively for roadway improvements.  In FY16 all road improvements are expensed in the General Fund 
and in FY15 the General Fund supplemented the MFT by $182k for a total road expenditures of $490k.  The 
Redevelopment Fund expenditures are for the $115k for the Moffett Road box culvert improvement project 
and $65k for the Sheridan Rd/Scranton Ave pedestrian traffic safety enhancements.  
 
 Finance Committee Meeting 
The next Finance Committee is scheduled for Monday, March 14, 2016 at 6:00 PM to discuss the FY2017-
FY2018 Official Pay Plan.      
 
 



09-Mar-16

Village of Lake Bluff

Treasury Report EXHIBIT A1

For the Month Ending February 29, 2016

Beginning Cash Inter-Fund February 2016

Fund Name # Cash Balance Receipts Acct. Pay/EFT Gross Payroll Transfers/ Ending Cash

Pension Benefits Other Transactions Balance

General  1 6,629,477.20 622,078.53 336,820.71 238,946.30 6,675,788.72

IMRF 7 58,277.02 13,189.41 45,087.61

Foreign Fire Tax 10 24,346.43 28,213.61 17,936.13 34,623.91

Social Security 14 189,775.07 18,916.85 170,858.22

Motor Fuel Tax 29 275,460.24 12,473.21 287,933.45

E911 32 253,235.59 5.85 253,241.44

2006 G.O. Bonds 37 715.40 715.40

Special Serv 38 13,437.86 13,437.86

Capital Improve 42 13,770.32 13,770.32

Redevelopment 43 159,733.19 51,342.84 108,390.35

Vehicle Replace 45 741,528.78 38,895.00 702,633.78

Water Fund 46 905,336.11 105,044.92 52,820.41 16,143.19 941,417.43

Train Wreath 61 1,796.50 1,796.50

Subtotal 9,266,889.71$         767,816.12$         529,921.35$         255,089.49$        -$                    9,249,694.99$         

Police Pension  (a) 62 8,981,788.24 27,829.17 1,497.02 63,736.64 8,944,383.75

Total 18,248,677.95$       795,645.29$         531,418.37$         318,826.13$        -$                    18,194,078.74$       

(a)  Other Transactions is the net loss on the sale of investments in January 2016.

      Disbursements

Page 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
10



09-Mar-16

Village of Lake Bluff

Treasury Report EXHIBIT A2

As of February 29, 2016

February 29, 2016

Checking Savings/ Certificates Federal Gov't Mutual Funds Total Cash &

Fund Name # Accounts Money Market IL Funds of Deposit Corporate & Municipal Stocks/Equities Investments

Max Safe LF Bnk (a) Bonds Obligations (a)

General 1 1,740,795.97 0.00 2,468,039.53 2,466,953.22    6,675,788.72

IMRF 7 45,087.61 45,087.61

Foreign Fire Tax 10 34,623.91 34,623.91

Social Security 14 170,858.22 170,858.22

Motor Fuel Tax 29 287,933.45 287,933.45

E911 32 253,241.44 253,241.44

2006 G.O. Bond 37 715.40 715.40

Special Serv 38 13,437.86 13,437.86

Capital Improve 42 13,770.32 13,770.32

Redevelopment 43 108,390.35 0.00 108,390.35

Vehicle Replace 45 434,921.17 267,712.61 702,633.78

Water Fund 46 569,599.83 371,817.60 0.00 941,417.43

Train Wreath 61 1,796.50           1,796.50

Subtotal 2,345,019.71$  -$                 4,170,009.45$  2,734,665.83$  -$                 -$                  9,249,694.99$        

Police Pension 62 102,548.40 666,275.61 -                    1,936,458.95   2,282,664.50 3,956,436.29    8,944,383.75

Total 2,447,568.11$  666,275.61$     4,170,009.45$  2,734,665.83$  1,936,458.95$ 2,282,664.50$  3,956,436.29$  18,194,078.74$      

(a)  The CD's are shown with interest that has been added to the principal balance.  The Police Pension investments are shown at market value as of April 30, 

2015.  The Police Pension Fund is the only fund allowed to invest in equities.

Page 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
11



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF OUTSTANDING INVESTMENTS AS OF MAY 31, 2015 17-Jun-15 EXHIBIT B

Vehicle

Certif Interest Purchase Maturity Investment Interest Current General Replace

# Nmbr Amount Rate Date Date Maturities Credited Book Value Fund Fund

NORTHERN TRUST BANK 

35551-4 1,013,891.13 0.145% 09/02/14 09/02/15 $729.24 $1,014,620.37 $1,014,620.37

35550-6 505,578.10 0.075% 02/08/15 08/07/15 $31.17 $505,609.27 $505,609.27

35549-9 502,806.26 0.075% 02/12/15 11/05/15 $30.99 $502,837.25 $502,837.25

SUBTOTAL INVESTMENTS--NORTHERN TRUST BANK $2,023,066.89 $2,023,066.89 $0.00

PRIVATE BANK - LAKE FOREST

52027-13 134,730.55 0.15% 7/8/2014 9/8/2015 $103.32 $134,833.87 $134,833.87

SUBTOTAL INVESTMENTS--PRIVATE BANK $134,833.87 $134,833.87

LAKE FOREST BANK & TRUST

51371-31 460,514.35 0.15% 03/29/15 09/29/15 $460,514.35 $307,237.19 $153,277.15

SUBTOTAL INVESTMENTS--LAKE FOREST BANK & TRUST $460,514.35 $307,237.19 $153,277.15

FIRST BANK & TRUST OF EVANSTON

601724631-16 113,948.63 0.325% 08/05/14 08/06/15 $113,948.63 $113,948.63

SUBTOTAL INVESTMENTS--FIRST BANK/EVANSTON $113,948.63 $0.00 $113,948.63

TOTAL INVESTMENTS -- CURRENT BALANCE $2,732,363.73 $2,465,137.95 $267,225.78

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
Page 12



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF EXHIBIT C

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT

For period ending January 31, 2016 FY2015-16

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year % of Budget Previous % of Budget FY14-15

Department Description Total-to-Date 15-16 Budget Used/Rec'd Fiscal YTD Used/Rec'd BUDGET

FUND NAME: GENERAL

Revenues

Property Taxes 2,884,644$    2,910,404$    99.1% 2,835,933$   100.5% 2,822,922$   

Sales Taxes 2,267,601      2,703,840      83.9% 1,964,686     90.6% 2,169,000     

Home Rule Sales Tax 573,288         707,840         81.0% 489,428        88.9% 550,800        

North Chicago Sales tax share 43,708           6,000             728.5% -                           --- 10,810          

Utility Taxes 489,673         729,945         67.1% 523,080        73.3% 713,440        

Other Taxes 699,472         707,050         98.9% 616,969        91.6% 673,265        

Vehicle Licenses 129,768         135,250         95.9% 130,553        95.2% 137,200        

Building Permits 412,545         660,000         62.5% 966,199        124.7% 775,000        

Demolition Permits 18,504           33,200           55.7% 63,917          255.7% 25,000          

Other Licenses & Permits 201,848         189,410         106.6% 198,642        105.2% 188,735        

Sewer Charge 139,920         176,000         79.5% 143,329        77.5% 185,000        

Services & Fees 28,420           29,475           96.4% 25,634          81.0% 31,660          

Fines 86,785           95,100           91.3% 65,191          78.1% 83,500          

Interest Earnings 8,903             12,000           74.2% 6,048            50.4% 12,000          

Grants 1,388             297,000         0.5% 50,580          29.8% 170,000        

Sale of Property -                 -                            --- -                           --- -                

Miscellaneous Revenue 326,743         380,402         85.9% 312,127        85.1% 366,992        

Operating Transfers In -                 -                            --- -                           --- -                

Total Revenues 8,313,210$    9,772,916$    85.1% 8,392,316$   94.1% 8,915,324$   

Expenditures

Administration 910,260$       1,393,173$    65.3% 905,931$      59.2% 1,531,180$   

Finance 398,172         470,225         84.7% 385,799        82.4% 468,265        

Community Development 279,010         331,620         84.1% 235,988        67.9% 347,390        

Boards & Commissions 42,020           72,200           58.2% 47,792          78.6% 60,840          

Village Hall 37,957           113,350         33.5% 46,796          50.6% 92,500          

Village Properties/Vacant Land 3,315             7,150             46.4% 3,701            102.8% 3,600            

   Total Administration 1,670,735$    2,387,718$    70.0% 1,626,006$   64.9% 2,503,775$   

Police Sworn 2,303,593$    2,822,935$    81.6% 2,350,444$   86.4% 2,720,130$   

Police Records 380,727         484,583         78.6% 708,353        98.7% 717,550        

Crossing Guards 0                    -                            --- 9,749            101.5% 9,600            

Fire 373,787         733,149         51.0% 424,621        55.3% 767,975        

Public Safety Building 52,658           85,550           61.6% 185,947        184.6% 100,750        

  Total Public Safety 3,110,764$    4,126,217$    75.4% 3,679,114$   85.2% 4,316,005$   

Streets, Lighting 1,274,969$    1,918,100$    66.5% 640,863$      62.4% 1,027,730$   

Sanitation 534,930         603,575         88.6% 484,257        78.4% 617,610        

Forestry 126,010         187,827         67.1% 110,309        59.1% 186,735        

Parks/Parkways/Ravines 88,819           222,385         39.9% 67,798          36.1% 187,585        

Sewers 188,670         489,865         38.5% 216,048        39.2% 551,530        

Public Works Facility 76,398           53,525           142.7% 64,085          61.5% 104,135        

Commuter Station 73,718           88,928           82.9% 66,093          72.1% 91,725          

   Total Public Works 2,363,514$    3,564,205$    66.3% 1,649,453$   59.6% 2,767,050$   

Total Expenditures 7,145,013$    10,078,140$  70.9% 6,954,574$   72.5% 9,586,830$   

Page

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
13



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF EXHIBIT C

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT

For period ending January 31, 2016 FY2015-16

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year % of Budget Previous % of Budget FY14-15

Department Description Total-to-Date 15-16 Budget Used/Rec'd Fiscal YTD Used/Rec'd BUDGET

FUND NAME: GENERAL

Expenditures by Type

Salaries, Benefits, Insurance 3,243,138$    3,963,444$    81.8% 3,361,101$   82.8% 4,056,855$   

Contractual & Commodities 2,278,584      2,870,203      79.4% 2,278,977     75.5% 3,016,610     

Interfund Transfers Out 720,647         1,159,643      62.1% 964,192        74.1% 1,301,215     

Contingency -                 200,000         0.0% -                0.0% 300,000        

    Total Operating Expenditures 6,242,369$    8,193,290$    76.2% 6,604,270$   76.1% 8,674,680$   

Capital & Land Acquisition 902,644         1,884,850      47.9% 350,304        38.4% 912,150        

Total Expenditures 7,145,013$    10,078,140$  70.9% 6,954,574$   72.5% 9,586,830$   

FUND NAME: WATER

Revenues

Water Sales 1,043,403$    1,365,120$    76.4% 1,071,561$   81.0% 1,322,500$   

Connection Fees 19,200           22,000           87.3% 24,362          20.2% 120,375        

Meter Sales 4,873             6,500             75.0% 10,140          258.4% 3,925            

Other Fees 2,450             150                1633.3% 100                        ---- -                

Interest Earnings 2,155             2,000             107.8% 1,697            70.7% 2,400            

Miscellaneous Revenue 392                450                87.2% 393               78.7% 500               

IRMA Surplus Credit -                 3,000             0.0% 3,300            122.2% 2,700            

Interfund Operating Transfr -                 -                        ---- -                         ---- -                

Total Revenues 1,072,474$    1,399,220$    76.6% 1,111,554$   76.5% 1,452,400$   

Expenses

Salaries & Benefits 236,786$       256,281$       92.4% 195,525$      72.0% 271,445$      

IMRF -                     25,200           0.0% -                0.0% 24,450          

FICA/Medicare -                     13,900           0.0% -                0.0% 15,325          

Water Purchases 527,627         628,125         84.0% 520,140        86.1% 603,840        

Contractual & Commodities 70,436           96,845           72.7% 91,103          95.1% 95,845          

Debt Principal/Interest Paymnt 218,544         219,044         0.0% 221,844        0.0% 222,344        

Contingency -                     50,000           0.0% -                0.0% 50,000          

Interfund Transfers Out -                     15,000           0.0% -                0.0% 15,000          

Capital Equipment -                     300,000                 ---- -                        ---- 375,000        

Capital Infrastructure 16,562           40,000           41.4% 151,720                ---- 139,182        

Total Expenses before Depreciation 1,069,956$    1,644,395$    65.1% 1,180,331$   65.1% 1,812,431$   

Depreciation Expense -                -                

Total Expenses After Depreciation 1,069,956$    1,644,395$    65.1% 1,180,331$   65.1% 1,812,431$   

Page

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
14



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF EXHIBIT C

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT

For period ending January 31, 2016 FY2015-16

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year % of Budget Previous % of Budget FY14-15

Department Description Total-to-Date 15-16 Budget Used/Rec'd Fiscal YTD Used/Rec'd BUDGET

SPECIAL REVENUE, CAPITAL PROJECTS, DEBT SERVICE FUNDS & POLICE PENSION TRUST

FUND NAME: IMRF

Revenues 153,250$       153,790$       99.6% 152,842$      99.2% 154,100$      

Expenditures IMRF on Water Salaries in Water Fund 334,658$       158,250$       211.5% 176,743$      91.0% 194,205$      

FUND NAME: SOCIAL SECURITY

Revenues 193,826$       194,050$       99.9% 182,438$      101.6% 179,565$      

Expenditures FICA on Water Salaries chg to Wtr Fnd 199,152$       245,525$       81.1% 205,972$      88.2% 233,460$      

FUND NAME: SPECIAL FIRE INS TAX

Revenues 28,214$         27,415$         102.9% 26,098$        107.1% 24,368$        

Expenditures 17,936$         31,700$         56.6% 7,725$          26.8% 28,800$        

FUND NAME: MOTOR FUEL TAX

Revenues & Transfers In from General 121,090$       171,045$       70.8% 274,985$      80.4% 342,045$      

Expenditures -$               -$                       ---- 450,497$      91.9% 490,000$      

FUND NAME: E911 SURCHARGE

Revenues 51,929$         78,530$         66.1% 61,525$        82.3% 74,730$        

Expenditures 5,468$           141,942$       3.9% 66,485$        24.3% 273,177$      

FUND NAME: VEHICLE/EQUIP REPLACE

Revenues & Transfers In 12,663$         279,300$       4.5% 80,370$        23.1% 347,400$      

Capital Equipment Expenditures 86,094$         194,750$       44.2% 205,037$      116.7% 175,626$      

FUND NAME: REDEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

Revenues & Transfers In 99$                10$                990.0% 1$                       ----- -$              

Expenditures 102,758$       95,000$         108.2% 173,081$      96.2% 180,000$      

Revenues from this account are reimbursements for grants for the Route 41/176 Interchange project.

FUND NAME: 2012 REFUNDING BONDS

Revenues & Transfers In from General Fund 253,792$       254,293$       99.8% 255,862$      100.0% 255,900$      

Expenditures - Bond Payments 253,792$       254,293$       99.8% 255,862$      99.8% 256,363$      

FUND NAME: POLICE PENSION TRUST

Additions 952,169$       976,295$       97.5% 911,405$      86.4% 1,055,315$   

Deductions 912,645$       851,700$       107.2% 672,492$      76.8% 875,947$      

Page

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
15



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
        Agenda Item: 7a 

 
 
Subject: 

AN INFORMATIONAL REPORT CONCERNING THE 
MANAGEMENT OF  ELECTRONIC WASTE  

  
Action Requested: ACCEPTANCE OF THE REPORT (Voice Vote) 
  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason for Request: 
 
When the Village had to stop offering a year-round drop off location for recycling old computers 
and electronics equipment (“E-waste”) at the Public Works Facility at the end of 2014, Lake 
Bluff residents were directed to dispose of E-waste at nearby Midwest Computer Recycling, 
located at 101 Skokie Valley Road, Lake Bluff (near the intersection of IL Rt. 176 and U.S. Rt. 
41) for no charge or make special arrangements with the Village residential hauler, Groot.  
Residents also have had the option to take their E-waste to Solid Waste Agency of Lake County 
(“SWALCO”) sponsored sites in Cuba Township, Grant Township, Grayslake, Highland Park 
and Waukegan; however, these SWALCO sponsored collection sites are scheduled to close on 
May 1 unless SWALCO can enter into a contract with a recycler that does not include costs to 
the agency.  SWALCO will continue to work with electronic manufacturers, legislators and 
recyclers to develop a sustainable solution for E-waste.  In the near term, Lake Bluff residents 
can continue to dispose of E-waste at Midwest Computer Recycling (disposal of TVs include a 
charge up to $20) or residents may want to call Groot (877-404-7668) to schedule a special home 
pick up. If residents contact Groot 24 hours before standard collection day, Groot will collect six 
items of electronic waste at the curb for collection for a fee of $30.00 (6 item limit can include 
one TV with a weight limit of 45 lbs).   
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 March 4, 2016 SWALCO press release regarding e-waste 
 
Village Staff’s Recommendation:  Acceptance of the Report. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 
 
 
 







VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
         Agenda Item: 7b 

 
 
Subject: 

REQUEST FROM THE LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT TO WAIVE 
BUILDING PERMIT FEES FOR THE PADDLE COURT LIGHTS AT 
BLAIR PARK  

 
Action Requested: 

 
CONSIDERATION OF REQUEST (Roll Call Vote) 

  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
On March 7, 2016 the Village received the attached letter from Lake Bluff Park District Board 
President Rob Douglass, requesting a waiver of all fees associated with the replacement of the 
Paddle Court lights at Blair Park, 355 West Washington Avenue.  As the total cost of 
construction of this project is $10,966, it is estimated that, without a waiver, the permit fees for 
these projects would be $135 and the Architectural Board of Review fee for a minor 
improvement would $100, so the total would be $235. 
 
Similar requests have been considered on a case-by-case basis for other non-profit and 
governmental organizations.    

Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 A Copy of the Letter Dated March 7, 2016. 
  

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Consideration of the Request. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 
 





 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             Agenda Item: 11  

 

Subject: 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR A 
PROPOSED GENERATOR AND FENCE AT BLAIR PARK 
LOCATED AT 355 W. WASHINGTON AVENUE  

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT (Petitioner) 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 

The Lake Bluff Park District proposes to place a generator to the south of the Blair Park 
Recreation Center, east of the skate park, in order to provide emergency power during outages. 
The generator would be screened by a 6’ wood fence similar to the fence around the generator 
behind Village Hall. 
 
At their March 1, 2016 meeting, the ABR recommended that the Village Board approve the site 
plan for the fence and generator. 
 
In preparation for the Village Board’s consideration of the request, the neighboring property 
owners have been notified and a resolution has been prepared transmitting the ABR’s 
recommendation.  
 

Ed Heiser, Superintendent of Facility Services for the Park District, as well as Village Staff, will 
be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions from the Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. A copy of a Resolution Approving the Fence and the Generator; 
2. Letter from Ron Salski to the Architectural Board of Review; 
3. Drawing of Generator Location; and 
4. Photo of Fence around Village Hall Generator. 
 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 



















 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             Agenda Item: 12  

 

Subject: 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR A 
FENCE AND LANDSCAPING FOR THE WADING POOL AT 
BLAIR PARK LOCATED AT 355 W. WASHINGTON AVENUE  

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT (Petitioner) 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 

On September 28, 2015 the Village Board approved the site plan for the renovation of the 
swimming pool and wading pool at Blair Park.  Per the recommendation of the Architectural 
Board of Review, the resolution called for the Park District to return for later approval of the 
fence around the exterior of the wading pool and the landscaping.  The Park District’s original 
proposal was to place a chain link fence around the exterior of the wading pool.  At the 
suggestion of the ABR, they have revised the plan to use a more decorative aluminum fence in 
this location.  The existing fence will remain around the main pool. 
 
At their March 1, 2016 meeting, the ABR recommended that the Village Board approve the site 
plan for the fence and landscaping. 
 
In preparation for the Village Board’s consideration of the request, the neighboring property 
owners have been notified and a resolution has been prepared transmitting the ABR’s 
recommendation.  
 

Ed Heiser, Superintendent of Facility Services for the Park District, as well as Village Staff, will 
be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions from the Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. A copy of a Resolution Approving the Fence and the Landscaping; 
2. Letter from Ron Salski to the Architectural board of Review; 
3. Photo of Proposed Fence; and 
4. Landscape Plan. 
 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 

















 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             Agenda Item: 13   

 

Subject: 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR CHANGES 
TO THE EXTERIOR OF THE BUILDING FOR NORTHSHORE 
DERMATOLOGY LOCATED AT 925 SHERWOOD DRIVE.  

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
NORTH SHORE DERMATOLOGY (Petitioner) 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 

Northshore Dermatology (Petitioner) moved into the building at 925 Sherwood Drive early last 
year and came before the Architectural Board of Review (“ABR”) and the Village Board in April 
and May of 2015 for approval of signs, standing seam metal canopies, sconce lights, and other 
improvements to the façade of building.   
 

The petitioner is requesting approval of three changes from the previous design.  They are 
proposing to separate what was previously proposed to be one long canopy on the south façade 
into two shorter canopies.  Portions of the façade that were previously proposed to be EIFS have 
instead been completed in lannon stone.  This also results in a change to the corbeling at the top 
of the wall. Lastly, the sign on the south façade is made out of plexiglass instead of the 
aluminum that was proposed in the previous submittal. The size and shape of the sign remain the 
same. 
 

The ABR reviewed the proposed changes at its March 1, 2016 meeting.  The ABR voted 
unanimously to recommend the Village Board approve the proposed changes. 
 

In preparation for the Village Board’s consideration of the request, the neighboring property 
owners have been notified and a resolution has been prepared transmitting the ABR’s 
recommendation.  
 

Dr. Tina Venetos of Northshore Dermatology, as well as Village Staff, will be in attendance at 
the meeting to answer questions from the Board. 
 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. A copy of the resolution; 
2. Proposed Awning Design from North Shore Sign; 
3. Previously Approved Design; 
4. Photo of South Façade on 2/1/2016; and 
5. A copy of the February 2, 2016 ABR Staff Report (without Attachments) 
 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 















cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3

cweatherall
Typewritten Text

cweatherall
Typewritten Text

cweatherall
Typewritten Text

cweatherall
Typewritten Text





cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 4





VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
        Agenda Item: 14 

 
 
Subject: 

A RESOLUTION  AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING EXECUTION 
OF A SMART-READY LED STREET LIGHTING PROGRAM 
PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF 
LAKE BLUFF AND COMMONWEALTH EDISON 

  
Action Requested: ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION (Voice Vote) 
  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason for Request: 
 
Street lights throughout the Village, both the traditional neighborhood post lights and “cobra 
head” style lights, are owned and maintained by varying parties depending on the location.  
ComEd recently approached the Village regarding participation in the Smart-Ready LED Street 
Lighting Program.  This program involves the conversion of 217 Com-Ed-owned “cobra head” 
style street lights with mercury vapor and high pressure sodium fixtures to Smart-Ready LED 
fixtures which should reduce the Village’s annual energy expenses by approximately $7,300.  In 
addition to the energy efficiencies, other benefits to the LED fixtures include (i) the ability to 
modify the intensity of the light, (ii) the new fixtures are “Dark Sky at night” full cut-off style 
(very little light trespass), and (iii) the potential for future Village operational control of the 
fixtures. 
 
The new Sustainability & Enhancement Ad Hoc Committee (“SEC”) discussed the program at 
their February 24, 2016 meeting and unanimously recommended the Village Board enter into the 
agreement.  The SEC also suggested the Village develop a plan to convert all remaining street 
lights to LED for both aesthetic and energy savings purposes.  Public Works Superintendent Jake 
Terlap will be in attendance to answer any questions regarding the program.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 

1. Resolution Authorizing Program Participation; 
2. Smart-Ready LED Street Lighting Agreement; and 
3. Catalog Sheet of Sample Light Fixtures. 

 
Village Staff’s Recommendation:  Consideration of the Agreement. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 
 
 
 























VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
        Agenda Item: 15  

 
 
Subject: 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN ANIMAL/RABIES 
CONTROL AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF 
LAKE BLUFF AND THE LAKE COUNTY HEALTH 
DEPARTMENT  

  
Action Requested: ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION (Roll Call Vote) 
  

Originated By: LAKE COUNTY BOARD 
  
Referred To:  LAKE BLUFF VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
Summary of Background and Reason for Request: 
 
On January 28, 1991, the Village of Lake Bluff authorized an agreement with the Lake County 
Health Department (LCHD) for the purpose of providing animal and rabies control services.  In 
order to improve services, such as increasing cat and dog registration compliance, the Lake 
County Board amends the agreement from time to time and asks municipalities to acknowledge 
and authorize any revisions.  The most previous revision to the contract (chiefly concerning 
changes to service fees) was approved by the Village Board in February 2008.  The revised Fee 
for Service Agreement and Animal Care and Control Fee Schedule went into effect January 1, 
2016 and the Village is being asked to acknowledge and authorize the following revisions: (i) 
clarification of the type of services provided during and after business hours; and (ii) reduction 
in the fees for the pickup and impoundment of stray roaming cats.   
 
Historically, fees incurred by the Village under this service agreement are minimal and typically 
do not exceed $500 in any one fiscal year. With the exception of the aforementioned 
amendments, the terms remain unchanged and the agreement will renew automatically until 
either party to the agreement provides a 30 day termination notice.  
 
Village Staff will be in attendance to answer questions from the Board.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. A Resolution Authorizing an Animal/Rabies Control Agreement with the Lake County 

Health Department; and 
2. Amended Fee for Service Agreement and Animal Care and Control Fee Schedule. 
 
Chief of Police’s Recommendation:    Approval of the Resolution. 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:     Approval of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 
 



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1















 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
                                                                               

             Agenda Item: 16 
 

 
 
 
Subject: 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT WITH SCHROEDER & SCHROEDER, INC. 
OF SKOKIE, ILLINOIS, FOR THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF’S FY2016 
PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE (PCC) SIDEWALK  REPLACEMENT 
PROJECT  

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
VILLAGE ENGINEER 

 
Referred To:  

 
VILLAGE ENGINEER 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
 
At 10:30 a.m. on Wednesday, March 9, 2016, bids were opened in the Board Room of the Lake Bluff 
Village Hall for the Village’s FY2016 Concrete Sidewalk Replacement Project.   A total of five bids 
were received. The lowest responsive bid was submitted by Schroeder & Schroeder, Inc. of Skokie, 
Illinois, in the total amount is $28,320.00.   
 
The Village’s FY2016-2017 Proposed Budget includes a total of $35,000 for the miscellaneous sidewalk 
replacement work which is $6,680 greater than the low bid amount of Schroeder and Schroeder, Inc.  
The remaining budget amount is intended to be expended by increasing the quantities of sidewalk 
replacement in this contract and other miscellaneous sidewalk repairs.   
     
Schroeder and Schroeder has successfully completed numerous concrete sidewalk replacement projects 
for the Village in the past.     The Village Engineer is recommending that an award be made to 
Schroeder & Schroeder, Inc. in the total low bid amount of $28,320.00.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 A copy of the Resolution 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:      Adoption of Resolution  
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 
 
 



 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  2016-__ 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT WITH 
SCHROEDER & SCHROEDER, INC.  OF SKOKIE, ILLINOIS, FOR THE VILLAGE OF  

LAKE BLUFF’S FY2016 PCC SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT PROJECT    
 

 WHEREAS, the Village’s Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual provides for the solicitation of 
competitive bids for the construction of public works projects in excess of $20,000; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village Engineer supervised the preparation of contract documents specifying the 
Village’s FY 2016 PCC Sidewalk Replacement Project; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, sealed bids for the Village’s  FY2016 PCC Sidewalk Replacement Project were opened 
and read aloud at 10:30 A.M., on Wednesday, March 9,  2016,   in the Board Room of the Lake Bluff Village 
Hall;  and, 
 
 WHEREAS, Schroeder & Schroeder Inc. submitted the lowest responsive and qualified bid for the 
specified improvements for the Village of Lake Bluff’s portion of the work  at a total unit price extended 
amount of $28,320.00; and,  
  

WHEREAS, adequate funds are included in the Village’s approved FY 2016 budget for the PCC 
Sidewalk Replacement Project; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, the Village Engineer recommends awarding the contract to Schroeder & Schroeder Inc., 
of Skokie, Illinois. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS as follows: 
 
1. The Village Board of Trustees hereby awards the FY2016 Miscellaneous PCC Sidewalk Replacement 

Project to the lowest responsive and qualified bidder:  Schroeder & Schroeder Inc., of Skokie, Illinois. 
 
2. The Village Administrator is hereby authorized and directed to execute a construction contract in a form 

acceptable to the Village Attorney with Schroeder & Schroeder Inc. of Skokie, Illinois to complete the 
FY2016 PCC Sidewalk Replacement Project at a total extended unit price amount of $28,320.00.  

 
PASSED this ___ day of March, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff, as 
follows: 
 

AYES:  (0)    
  
NAYS:  (0) 
 

ABSENT: (0)   
 

APPROVED this ___ day of March, 2016. 
 
       _______________________________ 
       Village President  
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Village Clerk 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
 Agenda Item: 17 

 
 
 
Subject: 

A PUBLIC HEARING CONCERNING THE VILLAGE OF 
LAKE BLUFF PROPOSED FISCAL YEARS 2017-18 
BIENNIAL BUDGET 

 
Action Requested: 

 
CONDUCT PUBLIC HEARING 

 
Originated By: 

 
VILLAGE STAFF 

 
Referred To:  

 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
As required by law, the Village must hold a public hearing on the Tentative Biennial 
Budget after which hearing the budget may be revised and passed without any further 
inspection, notice or hearing. Consistent with past practice, first reading of the budget 
ordinance will follow this public hearing with second reading and adoption of the budget 
anticipated at the next Board meeting on March 28th.  Notice of this hearing was published 
in the Pioneer Press – Lake Forester on March 3, 2016. 
 
The Finance Director will present a summary report of this Tentative Budget (lakebluff.org 
part 1 and part 2) and be available to respond to questions at the hearing.   
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 
 Public Hearing Notice. 

 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation: Conduct Hearing 
 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 

 





 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
                               Agenda Item: 18 

 
Subject: 

 
AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE BIENNIAL BUDGET FOR THE VILLAGE 
OF LAKE BLUFF FOR THE FISCAL YEARS COMMENCING MAY 1, 2016 
AND ENDING APRIL 30, 2018 

Action Requested: FIRST READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 

Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 

Referred To:  FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
This tentative budget, in the amount of $14,043,941 plus $1,192,218 in inter-fund transfers for FY2017 and 
$13,934,293 plus $1,241,853 in inter-fund transfers for FY2018, includes the Village of Lake Bluff funds and the 
Lake Bluff Public Library funds. For the first time ever the Village is submitting a two-year fiscal plan; this multi-
year budget process emphasizes long-range planning, budgeting for results, effective program management, and fiscal 
responsibility. Specifically, the primary objectives of this budget are to: (i) maintain current fund balances at or above 
Village minimum reserve levels, (ii) control operational costs, (iii) continue reinvestment in Village infrastructure, 
and (iv) continue to deliver quality and efficient services residents expect from the Village of Lake Bluff.  
Additionally, this budget has been assembled with the intention to allocate resources consistent with the developed 
2016 Village Strategic Plan.  
 
The operating budget (all costs except capital and contingency) for the Village and the Library is $10.774 million for 
FY2017 and $10.966 million for FY2018, both years representing a 1.8% increase from the previous year budget.  
The capital expenditure budget of $3.014 million for FY2017 and $2.707 million for FY2018 represents 21% and 
19% respectively, of the total budget.  Property taxes and sales taxes continue to be the two largest sources of revenue 
at $4.2 and $3.6 million, respectively. Sales tax revenue projections are 17% and 18% higher for FY2017 and 
FY2018, respectively, than the FY2015 actual sales tax revenue as automobile and auto-related sales recovered in 
2015, Heinen’s grocery store began operations in the vacant Dominick’s space in October 2014, and the Target store 
and adjacent out lot businesses began generating sales taxes in the July 2015. This budget was prepared with no 
recommended fee changes except for a 2.2% rise in the water rate from $6.95 to $7.10 per thousand gallons. 
 
Locally, the economic climate improved in the prior fiscal year as evidenced by the 7% rise in income tax receipts 
estimated for FY16; however, there continues to be significant concerns regarding the state’s fiscal management and 
its potential effect on the municipal allocation of state-shared revenues such as income, sales, personal property 
replacement, and motor fuel taxes. This budget was prepared with no modification in the formula for these State-
shared sources nor with any property tax freeze, as there has been no clear plan coming from Springfield. Last year 
the Village increased its General fund balance reserve from 30% to 50% of operating expenditures to provide 
expanded flexibility to address potential revenue cuts and unanticipated issues. During this budget period the Village 
will postpone some capital items to address any changes enacted by the State legislature. From a planning perspective, 
our economic outlook remains cautious as the sustainability of the recovery is still uncertain.  
 
On February 12, 2016 the Village Finance Committee discussed and recommended approval of this tentative budget 
document, which has been available for public inspection since March 3, 2016 at the Village Hall, the Public Safety 
Building and the Lake Bluff Library as well as on-line at the Village’s website at lakebluff.org.   
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

1. A Copy of the Ordinance; and 
2. Tentative Budget Transmittal Letter. 

 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:    First reading approval of the ordinance.  
 

Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 





























VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

             Agenda Item:  19 
 

Subject: 
ORDINANCES ADOPTING UPDATED BUILDING 
REGULATIONS (TITLE 9 LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE)  

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
VILLAGE STAFF 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 

Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
Lake Bluff Village policy is to consider the adoption of the latest building codes every three to four years 
in order to stay current with the latest technology and best practices in the industry.  Accordingly, staff 
has prepared the attached recommended changes to Village Ordinances to adopt the new codes.  As was 
true in previous years, the model codes under consideration are published by the International Code 
Council (ICC) and the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA), or, in the case of the Plumbing Code 
and the Accessibility Code, by the State of Illinois.  
 

The Architectural Board of Review (ABR) discussed the proposed changes at their meetings on January 5 
and February 2, and held a public hearing regarding the proposed changes on March 1, 2016.  The ABR 
heard no objections or comment from public at the discussions or public hearing. The technical details of 
the latest editions of the codes are summarized in the attached memo. 
 

Staff recommends that the amendments to Chapter 1 (Administration and Enforcement) of Title IX 
relating to permit renewals be effective immediately after second reading in order to allow people to 
renew expiring permits in accordance with our the new procedures as soon as possible. Approval by the 
State of Illinois Department of Public Health is required for the Plumbing Code amendments.  After the 
first reading of the ordinance amending the Plumbing Code, staff will send the ordinance to the State for 
this approval.  The Plumbing Code amendments will return to the Village Board for second reading after 
receiving this approval. Staff recommends that the remaining amendments, relating to adopting the 2015 
Codes in Chapter 2-5 and Chapter 7-18, be adopted with an effective date of July 1, 2016.  This will 
allow people who have already begun designs to submit under the existing codes.  
 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. Memo Summarizing Changes in Latest Model Code Editions 
2. Ordinance Amending Chapter 1 
3. Ordinance Amending Plumbing Code 
4. Ordinance Amending Chapter 2-5 and Chapter 7-18 
5. 2015 ICC Model Codes Summary of Important Changes; 
6. Significant Changes to the 2015 International Energy Conservation Code; 
7. General Summary of the Changes to the Illinois Plumbing Code; 
8. IDNR letter; and  
9. Changes to the 2014 National Electrical Code (click here). 

 

ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Ordinances.  
 

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Ordinances. 
 

Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 

http://www.lakebluff.org/village-news/11-village-news/803-upcoming-building-code-revisions-meeting-02-02


























































































































VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
             Agenda Item:  20 

 
Subject: AN ORDINANCE GRANTING  VARIATIONS FROM THE VILLAGE’S 

MAXIMUM FLOOR AREA AND SIDE YARD SETBACK REGULATIONS 
(611 E. Prospect Avenue) 

 
Action Requested: 

 
FIRST READING CONSIDERATION APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
BRUCE AND JILL DANLY (Petitioners) 

 
Referred To:  

 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
On January 27, 2016 the Village received a zoning application from Bruce and Jill Danly (Petitioners), 
property owners of 611 E. Prospect Avenue, requesting variations from the Village’s maximum floor 
area regulations and the R-4 District minimum side yard setback regulations to remove and reconstruct 
a single story addition on the rear of the house to serve as a mudroom.  The house was originally built 
in the 1880s and is a legal nonconforming structure because the house:  
 

 exceeds the maximum floor area regulations by 1,000.41 sq. ft. (1,759.13 sq. ft. maximum 
allowed); and 

 encroaches into the westerly side yard setback by 0.78 ft. (5.18 ft. minimum is required). 
 
At its meeting on February 17th the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) 
conducted a public hearing and recommended the Village Board approve the following:  
 

 A variation from the maximum floor area regulations of 1,017.98 sq. ft. (or a 57.87% 
variation); and 

 A variation from the R-4 District minimum side yard setback regulations of .78 ft. (or a 15.38% 
variation)  

 
The Petitioners, as well as Village Staff, will be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions from 
the Board.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

1. Ordinance Granting Requested Variations for 611 E. Prospect Avenue; and 
2. PCZBA Staff Report Dated February 12, 2016 (with attachments). 

 
PCZBA’s Recommendation:  Approval of the Ordinance.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation: Consideration of First Reading of the Ordinance.  

Date Referred to Village Board: 3/14/2016 



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1

















cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2




















































